THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In the Court of Appeals

---

APPEAL FROM Horry COUNTY  
Court of Common Pleas

Benjamin H. Culbertson, Circuit Court Judge

---

Appellate Case No.: 2012-213509

---

Jacqueline Smith.....Appellant.

v.

Horry County Schools.....Respondent.

---

APPELLANT'S FINAL BRIEF

---

W. Allen Nickles, III, SC Bar #4266  
Susan M. Fittipaldi, SC Bar #14225  
NICKLES LAW FIRM, LLC  
1519 Richland Street  
Columbia, South Carolina 29201  
(803)779-8080

*Attorneys for Appellant*

**RECEIVED**  
JUL 11 2013  
SC Court of Appeals

**

**STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL**

1. **Whether the Circuit Court erred in upholding the Board's decision which was rendered in violation of due process.**
2. **Whether the Circuit Court erred in upholding the Board's decision when it was in violation of its own Board policies.**
3. **Whether the Circuit erred in upholding the Board's decision which was not supported by substantial evidence.**
4. **Whether the Circuit Court erred in upholding the Board's decision without identifying supporting facts and legal conclusions.**

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This is an appeal from the Horry County School Board (“Board”) decision to terminate Appellant Jacqueline Smith (“Ms. Smith”), a veteran teacher.

By letter dated January 5, 2011, the Horry County School District (“District”) notified Ms. Smith of its recommendation that she be terminated from employment as a continuing contract teacher. (R. pp. 231-234) Ms. Smith timely requested a hearing before the Board which was held on March 24 and 25, 2011. On March 25, 2011, the Board voted to uphold the District’s recommendation that Ms. Smith be terminated. On April 25, 2011, Ms. Smith filed a Notice of Appeal with the Horry County Circuit Court requesting that it reverse the Board’s decision. Respondent Horry County Schools filed an Answer and Return dated May 3, 2011.

After both parties submitted briefs, the Honorable Benjamin Culbertson held a hearing on September 13, 2012. Judge Culbertson issued a form Judgment on September 20, 2012, without an accompanying written order, affirming the Board’s decision. (R. p. 1) The Judgment was filed with the Clerk of Court on October 26, 2012. Ms. Smith timely filed and served a Notice of Appeal to this Court. (R. pp. 5-9)

## STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

Ms. Smith began teaching in the District in 1999, and in 2003, received the Teacher of the Year award for North Myrtle Beach Elementary School. Prior to her termination, the District issued Ms. Smith continuing contracts to teach for each year of her employment.<sup>1</sup>

---

<sup>1</sup> Ms. Smith maintains a professional teaching certificate and has been employed under a continuing contract in Dillon County since the 2011-2012 school year.

During the 2007-2008 school year, Ms. Smith taught at North Myrtle Beach Intermediate School. Due to conflicts with her principal, in January 2008, Ms. Smith filed a grievance pursuant to Board policy. Ms. Smith was concerned that the principal was not including her in discussions with parents about her teaching. (R. p. 205)

Soon after filing her grievance, Ms. Smith was placed on administrative leave and reassigned to a new school, Carolina Forest Elementary School for the remainder of the school year. (R. pp. 175-178; pp. 205-209) The District's Human Resources Director testified that the administration was concerned about Ms. Smith's relationship with her principal and wanted to give her a "fresh start." Notably, the District did not issue an improvement plan or place Ms. Smith on a conditional contract, measures established by law and policy to provide formal notice of perceived substandard performance. (R. p. 172)

Ms. Smith was reassigned to Ocean Bay Middle School for the 2008-2009 school year. Because of a significant drop in student enrollment the following fall, Ms. Smith was transferred to Conway Middle School for 2009-2010 under the supervision of Principal Mary Clark. During 2008-2009 and 2009-2010, Ms. Smith was routinely reemployed under continuing contracts.

Beginning the 2010-2011 school year, Ms. Margaret Sordian was named principal of Conway Middle School. Ms. Sordian testified that she immediately began receiving a large number of parental complaints about Ms. Smith. (R. p. 158) District policy calls for the teacher to be advised and included in parental conferences. (R. pp. 447-448) Nevertheless, Ms. Smith was not offered an opportunity to meet with or participate in the majority of "complaints" identified by Ms. Sordian. (R. p. 219)

On October 28, 2010, fewer than nine weeks into the school year, Ms. Smith was placed on administrative leave with pay. Ms. Smith did not return to the classroom. Instead, by letter dated January 5, 2011, the District's Superintendent informed Ms. Smith that she was being recommended for termination from employment. State law requires that continuing contract teachers like Ms. Smith receive written notice of reasons for discharge and an opportunity to confront the District's witnesses. S.C. Code Ann. §§ 59-25-460 and 470.

The termination letter issued to Ms. Smith identified S.C. Code Ann. § 59-25-430, requiring proof of incompetence manifesting an unfitness to teach. The letter also identified § 59-25-440, requiring written notice of perceived deficiencies, assistance and a reasonable time for improvement. (R. pp. 231-234) Ms. Smith submitted a timely request for a hearing before the Board to challenge the recommended termination. By law, this required the District to present evidence establishing "good and just cause" for termination. S.C. Code Ann. § 59-25-470.

At the outset of the hearing, the District submitted numerous proposed exhibits, including documents containing hearsay statements by parents and students who were not identified as witnesses. (R. pp. 231-238; 240-241; 246-248; 250-269; 274-300; 303-320) Ms. Smith objected to the admission of any exhibits or testimony that contained hearsay statements unsupported by witnesses available for cross-examination. The Board did not rule on the objection when presented, but voted at the conclusion of the hearing to consider all of the exhibits and testimony presented, including all of the hearsay statements. R. pp. 98-103; pp. 224-227) After considering the disputed evidence, the Board voted 6 to 1 to uphold the recommendation to terminate Ms. Smith's employment.

The dissenting member commented that the Board could only terminate Ms. Smith under S.C. Code Ann. § 59-25-440, requiring written notice of her shortcomings and reasonable time for improvement, and that the District did not satisfy these requirements. (R. p. 229) By letter dated March 29, 2011, the Board Chair confirmed in writing the Board's decision to uphold the recommendation of the superintendent that Ms. Smith's employment with the District be terminated. (R. p. 2) The letter states only that the Board found "good and sufficient reasons to justify the termination of your employment" without providing any factual findings supporting its decision. Id.

### **STANDARD OF REVIEW**

On appeal from termination of a continuing-contract to teach, the Court of Common Pleas has the authority and duty to correct errors of law. Lexington County School District one Board of Trustees v. Bost, 282 S.C. 32, 316 S.E.2d 677 (1984) Where, as here, the challenged action arises from immediate termination, the record must contain evidence of unfitness to teach that is "undeniably and abundantly present." Kizer v. Dorchester County Vocational Educ. Bd. of Trustees, 287 S.C. 545, 550, 340 S.E.2d 144, 147 (1986) The Court may reverse or modify a decision if it is affected by an error of law or is arbitrary or capricious. S.C. Code Ann. § 1-23-380(5)(d), (f) (Supp. 2010) Additionally, the Court has the authority to reverse any decision "made upon unlawful procedure" or in excess of "statutory authority." S.C. Code Ann. § 1-23-380(6) (Supp. 1997), cited in Adamson v. Richland County School District One, 332 S.C. 121, 128, 503 S.E.2d 752, 755-56 (Ct. App. 1998)

This appeal is governed by the Teacher Employment and Dismissal Act. ("TEDA") S.C. Code Ann. § 59-25-410 et seq. In Sections 59-25-460 and 470, TEDA

requires that a continuing contract teacher be provided substantive and procedural due process by the school district's board within the time frames specifically delineated by statute. The hearing process established by the General Assembly in TEDA compels school boards to provide teachers the opportunity to confront witnesses and to challenge the introduction of evidence offered to substantiate any charges presented. Appellate courts have the responsibility of enforcing TEDA and ensuring that teachers are afforded the full process required by law.

Because school boards are delegated the responsibility to see and hear witnesses called to testify, review of the factual issues on appeal from teacher dismissals is determined by substantial evidence. Barr v. Bd. of Trs. of Clarendon County Sch. Dist. No. 2, 319 S.C. 522, 462 S.E.2d 316 (Ct. App. 1995) Substantial evidence is not a mere scintilla of evidence nor the evidence viewed blindly from one side of the case, but is evidence which, considering the record as a whole, would allow reasonable minds to reach the conclusion that the administrative agency reached or must have reached in order to justify its action. Laws v. Richland County School District 1, 270 S.C. 492, 243 S.E.2d 192 (1978) The court must reverse an adverse decision that is clearly erroneous in view of the reliable, probative, and substantial evidence on the whole record. S.C. Code Ann. § 1-23-380(A)(6)(e)(Supp. 1997); Lark v. Bi-Lo, 276 S.C. 130, 276 S.E.2d 304 (1981) Moreover, this deferential standard of review does not require a reviewing court to accept a decision at face value without an explanation for the reasoning exercised below. Porter v. South Carolina Public Service Commission, 333 S.C. 12, 21, 507 S.E.2d 328, 222 (1998)

## LEGAL ARGUMENT

### **I. The Circuit Court erred in upholding a decision that was rendered in violation of due process.**

The South Carolina Constitution guarantees all citizens the right to due process of law. S.C. Const. art. I, § 3. Additionally, the Constitution states that no person shall be finally bound by a judicial or quasi-judicial decision of an administrative agency except on due process and an opportunity to be heard. S.C. Const. art. I, § 22. This same section provides that no person shall be deprived of liberty or property “unless by a mode of procedure prescribed by the General Assembly.” Id.

The General Assembly established the mode of procedure to be used in the dismissal of public school teachers in Title 59, Chapter 25, Article 5 of the Code of Laws. See, S.C. Code Ann. §§ 59-25-410 et seq. These statutes provide continuing contract teachers specific rights, including:

1. Notice of reasons for potential separation (§59-25-440);
2. The right to a hearing (§59-25-460); and
3. Substantive and procedural due process including the opportunity to cross-examine witnesses (§ 59-25-470)

To support its recommendation to terminate Ms. Smith the District presented evidence, over the objection of counsel, consisting of hearsay statements of numerous students and parents. Although only two parents testified at the hearing, the hearsay statements of numerous others were accepted by the Board. The students and parents who made these statements were not present to testify.<sup>2</sup> Despite the clear language of the state

---

<sup>2</sup>For example, the letter recommending termination was presented as the administration’s first exhibit to the Board. This letter alleges that “during the 2010-11 school year alone, out of the 86 students you taught, the

constitution and TEDA, the Board did not honor Ms. Smith's right to cross-examine the witnesses whose statements were used against her.

Because this appeal is governed by TEDA, due process requirements guaranteed in that Act control. The "primary rule of statutory construction is that the Court must ascertain the intention of the legislature." Cooper v. Moore, 351 S.C. 207, 212, 569 S.E.2d 330, 332 (2002) Where the terms of a statute are clear, the court must apply those terms according to their literal meaning without resort to subtle or forced construction to limit or expand the statute's operation. Moody v. Dairyland Ins. Co., 354 S.C. 28, 30-31, 579 S.E.2d 527, 529 (Ct. App. 2003) If a statute's language is plain, unambiguous, and conveys a clear meaning, "the rules of statutory interpretation are not needed and the court has no right to impose another meaning." Hodges v. Rainey, 341 S.C. 79, 85, 533 S.E.2d 578, 582 (2000) Further, it is manifest error to look beyond the literal wording of the statute itself when the language is clear and plain. Paschal v. State Election Commission, 317 S.C. 434, 454 S.E.2d. 890 (1995) This Court need look no further than the plain language of TEDA to determine that Ms. Smith was not provided the full due process to which she was entitled.

Our Supreme Court affirmed the right to be heard in a meaningful fashion in Brown v. S.C. Board of Education, 301 S.C. 326, 391 S.E. 2d 866 (1990) Citing Board of Regents v. Roth, 408 U.S. 564, 92 S.Ct. 2701 (1972), the Court in Brown held "[t]he fourteenth amendment Due Process Clause requires procedural due process be afforded an individual deprived of a property or liberty interest by the State." In reversing the revocation of the teacher's certificate, the Court stated "the Board must comply with the

---

parents of 25 students made 161 complaints about you to your principal." (R. p. 232) The District did not identify the parents or students and offered no admissible evidence to substantiate these alleged complaints.

statutes and regulations providing for the revocation of a teaching certificate *before* depriving [appellant] of her teaching certificate.” Brown, 301 S.C. at 330, 391 S.E.2d at 868 (emphasis added) Twenty years later, in Brown v. James, 389 S.C. 41, 697 S.E.2d 604 (Ct. App. 2010), this Court held that the language of TEDA is unambiguous regarding procedure and that “the observance of the procedural requirements of the Employment and Dismissal Act is **mandatory and not a matter of discretion.**” Id. at 53. (emphasis added) In that case, a teacher was not afforded the hearing required by § 59-25-470 prior to a vote upholding the recommendation of termination. In reversing summary judgment in favor of the district, this Court found that the “procedure is set in place to afford the teacher a meaningful review of the evidence prior to the Board making a final determination...” Id. at 55. Here, Ms. Smith was not afforded a meaningful review of the evidence because she was deprived the opportunity to fully challenge hearsay presented to support her termination.

In other jurisdictions, even where a statute did not specifically provide for cross-examination, courts have recognized the due process right of public employees to confront and cross-examine witnesses who provide evidence used against them in termination proceedings. For example, Case v. Shelby Civil Service Merit Board, 98 S.W.3d 167 (Tenn. App. 2002), holds that due process requires an opportunity to confront and cross-examine adverse witnesses where facts giving rise to the public employee’s termination are in dispute. As noted in Case, other jurisdictions have reached the same conclusion. See, Bartlett v. Krause, 209 Conn. 352, 551 A.2d 710 (1988); Ohio Assoc. of Pub. Sch. Emp. v. Lockwood City Sch. Dist. Bd. of Educ., 68 Ohio St.3d 175, 624 N.E.2d 1043 (1994) See also, Winegar v. Des Moines Indep. Comm. Sch. Dist., 20

F.3d 895 (8<sup>th</sup> Cir.), cert. denied, 115 S. Ct. 426 (1994)(public school teacher was denied due process because he was not given the opportunity to confront and cross-examine witnesses against him); Garraghty v. Comm. of Va. Dept. of Corrections, 52 F.3d 1274, 1282-83 (4<sup>th</sup> Cir. 1995)(public employee who was fired based on allegations that he engaged in sexual harassment was denied due process because the employer failed to afford him the opportunity to confront and cross-examine the witnesses against him); Casada v. Booneville School Dist. No. 65, 686 F.Supp. 730 (W.D. Ark. 1988)(failure to allow teacher to cross-examine witnesses against him was a denial of due process and violated the state teacher dismissal act)

McClure v. Independent School Dist. No. 16, 228 F.3d 1205 (10<sup>th</sup> Cir. 2000) found that a school district violated due process when it failed to allow cross examination of adverse witnesses at a pre-termination hearing. The plaintiff, a school principal, brought suit in federal court alleging violation of her due process rights by introduction of affidavits from thirteen witnesses. Id. at 1211. Because no post-termination hearing was held, due process was governed by post-termination requirements. Finding “a ‘full post-termination hearing’ is understood to include the right to representation by an attorney and the right to cross-examine adverse witnesses, the court held that allowing the affidavits to be used against plaintiff violated her due process rights.” Id., citing Workman v. Jordan, 32 F.3d 475, 480 (10<sup>th</sup> Cir. 1994)

As in McClure, Ms. Smith’s due process right to confront and cross-examine adverse witnesses at her termination hearing was violated. The Board was provided numerous documents replete with statements of anonymous parents accusing Ms. Smith of wrongdoing to which she could not adequately respond. Some examples include:

- District Exhibit 19 contains 27 anonymous parental complaint and concerns, including one that a guidance counselor reported receiving complaints that Ms. Smith yelled at students, failed to provide clear expectations and that students were afraid to ask for clarification.

(R. pp. 274-278)

- District Exhibit 26 contains 19 anonymous complaints, including allegations that Ms. Smith would not return phone calls, that a child was “terrified” of her and that she had been “unprofessional” to a parent.

(R. pp. 314-318)

- District Exhibit 17 contains a list of complaints against Ms. Smith including that she made inappropriate comments in class, embarrassed students, failed to give clear instructions, released students late from class and played “RAP” music.

(R. pp. 267-269)

The District may argue that hearsay and improperly admitted documents were “cumulative” and “harmless.” This argument, however, ignores the mandatory nature of TEDA acknowledged by the Supreme Court in Johnson v. Spartanburg Co. School Dist. No. 7, 314 S.C. 340, 444 S.E.2d 501 (1994) and by this Court in Brown. Because the process below was infected by the admission of anonymous and hearsay statements, the Board’s decision to consider all information presented renders Ms. Smith’s termination invalid *per se*.

**II. The Circuit Court erred in upholding actions taken in violation of Board policies.**

A public agency must follow its own rules. In Hogsed v. Lancaster Area Schools Board of Trustees, 283 S.C. 42, 320 S.E.2d 724, 727 (S.C. App. 1984), this Court held that policies adopted by a school board are contractual and binding upon the district administration as well as its employees. As our Supreme Court emphasized in Triska v. DHEC, 292 S.C. 190, 355 S.E.2d 531 (1987), [an agency] “must also follow its own regulations and the provisions of the Administrative Procedures Act ... in carrying out the legitimate purposes of the agency.” Id. at 194, 533. When a government agency does not follow its regulations or procedures, due process is violated and its action cannot stand. See, United States v. Heffner, 420 F.2d 809, 811-12 (4<sup>th</sup> Cir. 1969), citing the rule established in United States ex rel. Accardi v. Shaughnessy, 347 U.S. 260, 74 S. Ct. 499, 98 L. Ed. 681 (1954) that an agency of the government must scrupulously observe rules, regulations, or procedures which it has established. When it fails to do so, its action cannot stand and courts will strike it down.

In the instant case, the District violated a number of its own policies in actions leading up to Ms. Smith’s termination. For example, when a recommendation for termination is based upon performance deficiencies, the District is required to provide a teacher with written notice of the perceived deficiencies and a reasonable time to for improvement. (R. pp. 361-362) This policy also requires that the administration make reasonable efforts to assist the teacher including formal evaluation and/or placement on an improvement plan. Prior to her termination, Ms Smith was not placed on an

improvement plan or formally evaluated. Instead, she was placed on leave with no assignment for almost six months.<sup>3</sup>

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