**THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In The Court of Appeals**

---

**APPEAL FROM HORRY COUNTY  
Court of Common Pleas**

**The Honorable Benjamin H. Culbertson, Circuit Court Judge**

---

**Appellate Case No.: 2012-213509**

---

JACQUELINE SMITH.....Appellant

v.

HORRY COUNTY SCHOOLS.....Respondent

---

**FINAL BRIEF OF THE RESPONDENT**

---

CHILDS & HALLIGAN, P.A.

Kathryn Long Mahoney, S.C. Bar No. 65332  
John M. Reagle, S.C. Bar No. 14185  
Vernie L. Williams, S.C. Bar No. 9511

[kmahoney@childs-halligan.net](mailto:kmahoney@childs-halligan.net)  
[jreagle@childs-halligan.net](mailto:jreagle@childs-halligan.net)  
[vwilliams@childs-halligan.net](mailto:vwilliams@childs-halligan.net)

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

#### **IV. LEGAL ARGUMENT**

##### **A. Standard Of Review**

---

The Act governs the employment and dismissal of all teachers in the traditional public schools of South Carolina. S.C. Code Ann. § 59-25-410 et seq. Additionally, Section 59-19-90(2) of the South Carolina Code of Laws vests in the school board of trustees the power and duty to employ and discharge teachers. Specifically, the board of trustees shall "[e]mploy teachers and discharge them when good and sufficient reasons for so doing present themselves...." § 59-19-90(2). In enacting the Act, the General Assembly did not intend to limit the power of the board of trustees, but to prevent its abuse. *Adams v. Clarendon County Sch. Dist. No. 2*, 270 S.C. 266, 272, 241 S.E.2d 897, 900 (1978).

In considering appeals from decisions of school district boards of trustees under the Act, the scope of judicial review is limited to an examination of the record to

determine whether there is substantial evidence supporting the decision of the board of trustees.

Consistency with relevant precedent requires that the scope of judicial review [in the Teachers Employment Dismissal Act appeals] be a limited one. In view of the powers, functions, and discretion which must necessarily be vested in educational authorities if they are to execute the duties imposed upon them, this court cannot substitute its judgment for that of these authorities.

*Laws v. Richland County Sch. Dist. No. 1*, 270 S.C. 492, 495, 243 S.E.2d 192, 193 (1978). See also, *Kizer v. Dorchester County Vocational Educ. Bd. of Trs.*, 287 S.C. 545, 548, 340 S.E.2d 144, 146 (1986); *Hendrickson v. Spartanburg County Sch. Dist. No. Five*, 307 S.C. 108, 112, 413 S.E.2d 871, 874 (Ct. App. 1992). Accordingly, the appropriate standard of review for this appeal is "whether the grounds given for termination of the [appellant's] employment are supported by 'substantial evidence'." *Laws*, 270 S.C. at 495, 243 S.E.2d at 193. Substantial evidence is that, which "considering the record as a whole would allow reasonable minds to reach the conclusion the administrative agency must have reached in order to justify its action." *Hendrickson*, 307 S.C. at 110-11, 413 S.E.2d at 873. If substantial evidence exists, a court may not substitute its judgment for that of the School Board, and the decision must be upheld. *Id.*

As discussed below, there is substantial evidence in the record supporting the School Board's decision to terminate Appellant's employment with the District, and, therefore, the decision must be affirmed.

**B. Appellant's Termination Hearing Satisfied the Requirements of Due Process.**

---

Section 59-25-470 of the Act requires that a teacher who has been recommended for termination of employment is entitled to a hearing before the school board, to be represented by legal counsel, depose witnesses before the hearing, subpoena witnesses to the hearing, examine and cross-examine witnesses, offer other evidence, and to present any and all defenses to the recommended termination of employment, among other due process rights. Appellant was given an adversarial due process hearing before the School Board, including all of these rights, on March 24, 2011. The hearing lasted approximately 16 hours. Prior to the hearing, Appellant deposed witnesses, and at the hearing on March 24, 2011, Appellant exercised her rights to be represented by legal counsel, to present witnesses and other evidence on her behalf, and to cross-examine adverse witnesses.

Following the hearing on March 24, 2011, the School Board issued its decision affirming the Superintendent's notice of suspension and recommendation of dismissal. Appellant was notified in writing of the Board's decision on March 29, 2011.

Appellant now contends that the School Board's hearing violated her right to due process because hearsay or incompetent evidence was presented against her, thereby denying her the opportunity to effectively cross-examine and confront witnesses adverse to her<sup>1</sup>. Contrary to Appellant's position, competent evidence supports the School Board's decision.

School Board hearings under the Act are quasi-judicial, administrative hearings. See, e.g., *Laws v. Richland County Sch. Dist. No. 1*, 270 S.C. 492, 243 S.E.2d 192 (1978). Unless otherwise specifically provided by statute, the rules of evidence do not strictly apply to quasi-judicial, administrative hearings. *Richards v. City of*

---

<sup>1</sup> This issue, though raised by Appellant before the Circuit Court below was not ruled on by the Circuit Court, and therefore is not appropriate for review on appeal to this Court. *Kiawah Resort Assocs. v. S. C. Tax Comm'n*, 318 S.C. 502, 458 S.E.2d 542 (1995); *Food Mart v. S. C. Dep't of*

*Columbia*, 227 S.C. 538, 552, 88 S.E.2d 683, 689-90 (1955) (“even without the aid of statute it is held that an administrative or quasi-judicial body is not governed by the ordinary legal rules of evidence”); *Jacoby v. S.C. State Bd. of Naturopathic Exam’rs.*, 219 S.C. 66, 90, 64 S.E.2d 138, 149 (1951) (“[a]n administrative or quasijudicial body is allowed a wide latitude of procedure and not restricted to the strict rule of evidence adhered to in a judicial court.”).

Here, Appellant chiefly complains of alleged hearsay statements of students and/or their parents critical of her job performance. Even assuming arguendo that hearsay evidence was admitted into evidence, it would not warrant reversal of the School Board’s decision. The issue of the admissibility of hearsay in teacher termination hearings, particularly with regard to student statements, was discussed in *Hinkle v. Garrett-Keyser-Butler Sch. Dist.*, 567 N.E.2d 1173 (Ind. Ct. App. 1991). The *Hinkle* court explained the general rules with respect to both the right to confront witnesses and hearsay evidence of students in the context of a teacher termination hearing.

First, the court made clear that, under circumstances like Appellant’s, the right to confront and examine witnesses was not denied.

If a teacher wishes to confront and cross-examine a particular witness, that teacher must request that the particular witness appear at the hearing. As the trial court correctly noted, [teacher] could have performed the typical cross-examination of his accusers, who would have been properly classified as hostile witnesses. [Teacher] made no request for his accusers to appear at the hearing, although they were known to him at the time. Moreover, [teacher] does not contend that he was denied the opportunity to confront and cross-examine the witnesses who testified. There was no deprivation of [teacher’s] right to confront and cross-examine his accusers in this case.

---

*Health & Envtl. Control*, 322 S.C. 232, 471 S.E.2d 688 (1996).

*Id.*, 567 N.E.2d at 1177.

Likewise, with respect to hearsay, the *Hinkle* court noted the formalities of school board hearings need not comply with the state's administrative procedures act, and that:

Moreover, the interest to be protected, that of avoiding the likelihood that students would have to testify on such matters in the presence of their peers or teachers, is more compelling than in the typical administrative adjudication.

*Id.*, 567 N.E.2d at 1178. In affirming the teacher's termination despite finding some hearsay evidence had been admitted, the *Hinkle* court reiterated the general rule applicable to teacher termination hearings that, although the admission of hearsay in a school board administrative hearing is not without limitation, as long as the school board's decision is not based solely on hearsay evidence it will be affirmed. *Id.* See also *Giles v. Schuyler-Chemung-Tioga v. Bd. of Coop. Educ. Servs.*, 199 A.D.2d 613, 614 (N. Y. Sup. Ct., 1993) ("...it has long been held that hearsay is admissible in administrative hearings and may be used to support a finding of substantial evidence as long as it is 'believable, relevant, and probative'." (citation omitted)); *Merchant v. Bd. of Trs. of the Pearl Mun. Separate Sch. Dist.*, 492 So.2d 959, 964 (Miss. Sup. Ct. 1986) ("When hearing teacher dismissal matters, school boards proceed informally and are not bound by the Mississippi Rules of Evidence. School boards are not 'courts'.").

Here, the evidence apparently objected to by Appellant is either not hearsay at all, or subject to an evidentiary exception under Rules 803(2), (3), (4), (6) and (8), SCRE.

For example, the South Carolina Supreme Court has directly addressed the issue of whether out of court statements regarding poor job performance are hearsay in *Baber v. Greenville County*, 327 S.C. 31, 488 S.E.2d 314 (1997). The Court held that

testimony offered to show an employee had notice of poor job performance was not hearsay. “Testimony to show notice of a fact and not the fact itself is not hearsay.” *Id.*, 327 S.C. at 41, 488 S.E.2d at 319. Appellant’s notice of her performance deficiencies is of course relevant to her termination under the Act, § 59-25-440, though not necessarily relevant to her dismissal under § 59-25-430. However, assuming arguendo it is hearsay, in viewing the record as a whole, as the Court must do under the substantial evidence standard of review, it is plain that the School Board’s decision is not based solely on inadmissible hearsay and that sufficient competent evidence supports the School Board’s ruling affirming the Superintendent’s recommendation of Appellant’s dismissal. Indeed, Appellant’s insubordinate refusal to accept an improvement plan, alone, justifies her termination. *See, e.g., Cole v. Illinois*, 562 F.3d 812, 815-16 (7th Cir. 2009). Moreover, at least three parents, two teachers, and three school principals all testified based on their personal and direct observations and dealings with Appellant to facts showing both her unfitness to teach and job deficiencies, which she failed to rectify over a six-year period.

Accordingly, Appellant was afforded due process of law in her termination hearing, and she was neither denied the opportunity to confront witnesses against her, nor unduly prejudiced by the admission of hearsay evidence.

**C. The School Board's Termination of Appellant's  
Employment Complied with Applicable Policies.**

The District complied with its policy concerning the termination of teachers with regard to Appellant's termination. Although it is true that in some circumstances a school district's failure to comply with its own policies in taking adverse employment action can amount to a violation of due process, this is only the case where the policy violated establishes a property right in the plaintiff or aggrieved party. *See, Henry-Davenport v. Sch. Dist. of Fairfield County*, 832 F. Supp. 2d 602 (D.S.C. 2011).

Importantly, the District did comply with its policies applicable to the termination of professional staff. The District Policy regarding Discipline, Suspension and Dismissal of Professional Staff provides in relevant part:

Therefore, it is the policy of the Superintendent to recommend to the Board the removal from employment of any teacher (or administrator) who shall fail, or who may be incompetent, to give instruction (or provide administration of a school or a program) in accordance with the directions of the Superintendent or who shall otherwise manifest an evident unfitness for teaching (or administration), as determined by the Superintendent.

Evident unfitness for teaching or administration is manifested by conduct including, but not limited to, the following: persistent neglect of duty; willful violation of the policies, rules, regulations, or procedures of the District....

(R. pp. 361-362.) By complying with the Act, the District and School Board complied with applicable policy. District policy permits the termination of teachers who manifest evident unfitness for teaching under the Act.

Appellant's employment was terminated both for "evident unfitness for teaching" under the Act, § 59-25-430, as well as for performance deficiencies and shortcomings other than "evident unfitness," after notice of such deficiencies and an opportunity to improve, under § 59-25-440. Accordingly, the Court only needs to find the procedures for either § 59-25-430 or §59-25-440 were met to uphold the School Board's decision that Appellant's conduct justifies termination of her employment.

Appellant's argument that the School District failed to follow its policies relates only to the issue of her termination under the Act, § 59-25-440, i.e., that Appellant was not properly given notice of her performance deficiencies and an opportunity to improve.

**1. Appellant Was Repeatedly Provided Notice Of  
Performance Deficiencies And Ample Opportunity  
To Improve.**

---

At least as far back as the 2006-2007 school year, serious concerns with Appellant's teaching were noted and addressed with her by the Principal at NMBIS, Ms. Green-Graham. These serious concerns included the nature of Appellant's instructional interactions with both students and parents. Appellant was offered an assistance plan, but refused it. Ultimately, Appellant was placed on administrative leave during the 2007-2008 school year due to her hostility towards the administration, unsatisfactory teaching performance, and refusal to change her teaching methods.

Again, in the 2008-2009 school year, the Principal of OBMS, Ms. Connie Huddle, advised Appellant of deficiencies in her performance. These deficiencies included poor instructional performance and a hostile or harsh classroom atmosphere.

Yet, again, in the 2010-2011 school year, Appellant was notified by the Principal at CMS, Ms. Margaret Sordian, of performance deficiencies. And, again, these deficiencies included poor instructional performance and a hostile or harsh classroom environment, as well as poor communication with parents. Again, Appellant was offered an assistance plan, but she refused it.

In light of these consistent facts and concerns over a period of several years, schools, and administrators, it is clear that Appellant was fully and fairly notified of deficiencies in her performance. It is further undisputed that Appellant was at least twice offered assistance plans, and both times she refused them. Likewise, Appellant had ample opportunity to improve her performance over the years, but simply failed or refused to do so. Appellant was, therefore, afforded notice of her performance deficiencies and an opportunity to improve, including opportunities for assistance plans, but refused to avail herself of these opportunities. The District fully complied with any

obligations it had with respect to its policies and the Act, § 59-25-440, to provide Appellant notice and an opportunity to improve. The fact that Appellant failed to take advantage of her rights to improve under §59-25-440 or District policy in no way constitutes the District's failure to comply with either.

**2. The District's Student Grievance Policy Confers No Rights On Appellant.**

Appellant contends the District failed to comply with its Student Grievance Policy regarding student complaints against her. (App. R. pp. 447-448.) However, the Student Grievance Policy is designed to protect student's rights, it is not a mandatory or exclusive procedure for addressing student concerns and creates no contractual or due process rights for teachers. Rather teacher's employment rights are protected by the Act. *See Henry-Davenport v. Sch. Dist. of Fairfield County*, 232 F. Supp. 2d 602 (D.S.C. 2011.) Moreover, student complaints were brought to Appellant's various supervisors and principals precisely because Appellant was not addressing parent or student concerns. Ultimately, however, Appellant was repeatedly made aware of student concerns and provided ample opportunity to address these concerns and improve her performance, which she failed to do. Consequently, the District complied with policies applicable to Appellant's dismissal.

**D. The School Board's Termination Of Appellant's Employment Is Supported By Substantial Evidence.**

Appellant argues, as grounds for reversal of the School Board's decision, that the decision of the School Board is not supported by substantial evidence. The School Board's decision upholding the dismissal of Appellant is clearly supported by substantial evidence from which reasonable minds can conclude that her termination was appropriate and permissible under South Carolina law.

In *Adams v. Clarendon County Sch. Dist. No. 2*, 270 S.C. 266, 272-73, 241 S.E.2d 897, 900 (1978), the South Carolina Supreme Court stated that "the Act has clearly separated the circumstances for which a teacher may be discharged for cause into two categories. One of these categories is explicitly set out in § 59-25-430 and the other is implicit in § 59-25-440."

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